Authority: Toronto and East York Community Council Item TE11.6, as adopted by City of Toronto Council on

December 17 and 18, 2019

#### CITY OF TORONTO

#### BY-LAW 238-2020

To designate the property at 90 Croatia Street as being of cultural heritage value or interest.

Whereas the Ontario Heritage Act authorizes the Council of a municipality to enact by-laws to designate real property, including all buildings and structures thereon, to be of cultural heritage value or interest; and

Whereas authority was granted by Council to designate the property at 90 Croatia Street as being of cultural heritage value or interest; and

Whereas the Council of the City of Toronto has caused to be served upon the owners of the lands and premises known as 90 Croatia Street and upon the Ontario Heritage Trust, Notice of Intention to designate the property, and has caused the Notice of Intention to be posted on the City's website for a period of 30 days in accordance with Municipal Code Chapter 162, Notice, Public, Article II, § 162-4.1. Notice requirements under the Ontario Heritage Act; and

Whereas no notice of objection was served upon the Clerk of the municipality; and

Whereas the reasons for designation are set out in Schedule A to this by-law;

The Council of the City of Toronto enacts:

- 1. The property at 90 Croatia Street, more particularly described in Schedule B attached to this by-law, is designated as being of cultural heritage value or interest.
- 2. The City Solicitor is authorized to cause a copy of this by-law to be registered against the property described in Schedule B to this by-law in the proper Land Registry Office.
- 3. The City Clerk is authorized to cause a copy of this by-law to be served upon the owners of the property 90 Croatia Street at and upon the Ontario Heritage Trust and to cause notice of this by-law to be posted on the City's website for a period of 30 days in accordance with Municipal Code Chapter 162, Notice, Public, Article II, § 162-4.1. Notice requirements under the Ontario Heritage Act.

Enacted and passed on February 26, 2020.

Frances Nunziata, Speaker Ulli S. Watkiss, City Clerk

(Seal of the City)

### **SCHEDULE A**

# STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE REASONS FOR DESIGNATION 90 CROATIA STREET

### Reasons for Designation

The property at 90 Croatia Street (with the entrance address at 980 Dufferin Street) is worthy of designation under Part IV, Section 29 of the Ontario Heritage Act for its cultural heritage value, and meets Ontario Regulation 9/06, the provincial criteria prescribed for municipal designation, under all three categories of design, associative and contextual value.

## <u>Description</u>

The property at 90 Croatia Street (with the entrance address at 980 Dufferin Street) is located on the southwest corner of Bloor Street West and Dufferin Street in the Toronto neighbourhood of Brockton. It contains the Kent School, a three-storey institutional building that was commissioned in 1907 by the Toronto Board of Education as the largest public school in Toronto to serve the rapidly growing west end of the City. Named for the Board's co-chair and one of its longest serving trustees, Herbert A. E. Kent, the first eight rooms of the school opened in 1908, with the remainder completed the next year. Following the growth of the school population after World War II, the south wing was added in 1960. The Kent School was declared surplus by the Toronto District School Board in 2016.

## Statement of Cultural Heritage Value

The Kent School has design value as a well-crafted school building with Edwardian Classical styling. It was one of the first schools completed according to the Ogden Plan, created by the Toronto Board of Education's Buildings Department to improve health and safety in new facilities, including egress, lighting and ventilation. The Kent School features the T-shaped plan with the multiple entrances and oversized openings associated with the Ogden Plan in a design highlighted by classical detailing that remains on the main (east) and north (side) elevations.

The property at 90 Croatia Street (with the entrance address at 980 Dufferin Street) is historically associated with the development and expansion of Brockton, which was incorporated as a village and town before 1884 when it became one of the first independent municipalities to be annexed by the City of Toronto. At the west end of the rapidly expanding City, Brockton was the focus of immigration and residential development in the early 1900s, leading to the need for new educational facilities, including the Kent School.

As an institution of significance in Brockton, the Kent School was originally designed as the largest custom-built public school in Toronto to meet the demand for educational facilities that accompanied the increase in immigration and the westward growth of the City after the turn of the 20th century. In response to another population surge following World War II, the south wing was added to the Kent School as it continued to serve the Brockton community.

The Kent School is linked historically to architect C. H. Bishop through his role as Superintendent of Buildings for the Toronto Board of Education during the period when the school was designed and constructed. Bishop is credited with dozens of elementary and secondary schools in Toronto during his thirty-year career and, to address the demand for new

and larger schools in the early 20th century, developed standardized plans for the Board of Education with features that were considered innovative at the time.

Contextually, the property at 90 Croatia Street helped define the historical context of Brockton where it remains historically, physically and visually linked to its setting on the southwest corner of Bloor Street West and Dufferin Street, a major intersection in Toronto. With its scale, design and orientation facing Dufferin Street, The Kent School is highly visible and a local landmark in Brockton.

### Heritage Attributes

The heritage attributes of the Kent School at 90 Croatia Street (with the entrance address of 980 Dufferin Street) are:

- The setback, placement and orientation of the building on the west side of Dufferin Street, south of Bloor Street
- The scale, form and massing of the three-storey T-shaped building with the textured stone base with the stone coping and the flat-headed window openings
- The materials, with the red brick cladding and the brick, stone, metal and wood detailing
- The flat roof, with the stepped brick parapets with the stone coping and the metal cornice incorporating the name "Kent School" (east) on the east, north and south ends of the main body of the building (the parapets have been modified)
- The principal (east) elevation facing Dufferin Street, which is organized into five sections with frontispieces in the centre and on the north and south ends, and the stone cornice that extends across the entire elevation between the first- and second-storey window openings
- The central frontispiece, which extends three bays and has twin entrances in the first (ground) floor that are separated by a single flat-headed window opening containing three sash windows (the windows have been replaced)
- The twin entrances (east), which are accessed by stone staircases, with the stone doorcases with the triangular pediments supported on brackets that contain pairs of panelled wood doors with glass inserts and flat-headed multi-paned transoms (the doors are not original)
- On the central frontispiece, above the entrances, the two-storey colonnade with the four stone semi-engaged Ionic columns that organize the flat-headed window openings in the second and third stories with the stone sills and aprons, which contain three sash windows in the centre bay and two sash windows in the outer bays (the windows have been replaced)
- On the bays flanking the central frontispiece, in all three stories, the large flat-headed window openings, which contain four sash windows, with the stone sills and, beneath the second- and third-storey openings, stone aprons

- The north (side) elevation where, above the first storey with the banded brickwork and the entrance, the upper two stories are organized into three bays by brick pilasters with stone detailing and the outer two bays have brick panel
- On the north elevation, the entrance that is centered in the first (ground) floor, with the stone stairs, the pair of panelled wood doors with glass inserts, the multi-paned flat transoms, and the open porch with the brick piers, the wood columns and semi-engaged columns, and the triangular pediment with the modillion blocks and mouldings (the doors are not original)
- Above the north entrance, the single flat-headed window opening in the second and third stories, with the brick flat arch, stone sills and two sash windows (the windows have been replaced)
- The south (side) elevation, which is partially concealed by the 1960 wing, with the cladding, detailing and fenestration

The rear (west) elevation and the rear (south) wing of the original school, and the 1960 south addition, are not identified as heritage attributes.

# SCHEDULE B LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PART OF PIN 21309-0727 (LT)

PART LOT 1A, PART LOT 1B, PART LOT 2A AND PART LOT 2B, REGISTERED PLAN 256 OR 300,

PART OF LOTS 2 AND 3, REGISTERED PLAN D-1373, LOTS 1 TO 8, INCLUSIVE, BLOCK A, LANE (CLOSED BY BY-LAW 22526, INST. WG134848), REGISTERED PLAN 1252, DESIGNATED AS PART 9, PLAN 66R-30361

City of Toronto and Province of Ontario Land Titles Division of the Toronto Registry Office (No. 66)